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UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA
SEPEHR TORABI CASE NO. 12¢v1299-WQH-BLM

Plaintiff, ORDER
VS.

WASHINGTON MUTUAL BANK;
CHASE BANK; DEUTSCHE BANK;
CITIBANK; CALIFORNIA
RECONVEYANCE COMPANY;
DOES 1 through 50 inclusive,

Defendants

HAYES: Judge:

The matter before the Court is the Motion to Dismiss the First Ame

Complaint filed by Defendants JP Morg&hmase Bank, N.A., an acquirer of cert

assets and liabilities of Washington MutBahk from the Federal Deposition Insurar

Corporation Acting as Receiver, erroneouslied as “Chase Bank,” and Califort

Reconveyance Company. (ECF No. 19).
PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

On May 30, 2012, Plaintiff ehr Torabi, proceeding pro se, initiated this ac

nded
AN
ce

nia

tion

by filing the Complaint against Washingtstlutual Bank, Chase Bank, Deutsche Bank,

Citibank and California Reconveyance Company. (ECF No. 1).

On January 23, 2013, the@t granted a Motion tBismiss filed by Defendan
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California Reconveyance Company (ECF No.a)d instructed Plaintiff to file any

motion for leave to amend the Complaint within 30 days. (ECF No. 7).
On February 26, 2013, Plaintiff filed\dotion for Leave to File First Amendsg
Complaint (ECF No. 13), which the Cogranted on March 22, 2013. (ECF No. 1

d
7).

On July 9, 2013, Plaintiff filed a FirsAmended Complaint against Defendants

California Reconveyance Company, Chdank, Citibank, Deutsche Bank a
Washington Mutual Bank. (ECF No. 18).

nd

On July 25, 2013, Defendants JP Morgan Chase Bank, N.A., an acqulirer

certain assets and liabilisef Washington Mutual Bk from the Federal Depositic
Insurance Corporation Acting as Recejvand California Reconveyance Compa
(“moving Defendants”) filed the Motion tBismiss the First Amended Compla
Pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil Procegld2(b)(6). (ECF No. 19). On August 2
2013, Plaintiff filed an opposition. (EQ¥0. 22). On Augus27, 2013, Defendants |
Morgan Chase Bank, N.A. and California Regeyance Company fitiea reply. (ECH
No. 23).
ALLEGATIONSOF THE FIRST AMENDED COMPLAINT

In the First Amended Complaint, Plaintiff makes the following fac

allegations:

Plaintiff is the owner of real property ... (hereinafter the ‘Subject
Property’) ...

9. Plaintiff alleges that Defendts, WAMU, CHASE, and DEUTSCHE
BANK conducted a Trustee Sale and unlawfully perfected foreclosure on
Plaintiffs real %roperty ... ostensibly collect the unpaid balance on the
Note secured by the Security instrumiratt is identified in ‘Exhibit 3." ...

14. This action arises out of Defendgstinterference with Plaintiff[’]s
due process and equal protectionsclitwas part of a broad conspiracy
to deprive homeowners of due proces®reclosure proceedings in order
to advance their financial interes&tate action exists under California
Code of Civil Procedure [section] 367 [] and California Civil Code
[section] 2924 [,] et seq.

15. On or about September 01, 2008, Plaintiff entered into a loan
modification pro%ram witibefendant CHASE, who had recently acquired
Plaintiff[']s Note from the then defunct Washington Mutual Bank.

16. On or about[] June 01, 2009, Dedant CHASE sent Plaintiff a faulty

-2- 12cv1299-WQH-BLM

n
Ny
nt
3,
P

tual




© 00 N O 0o B~ W N PP

N N NN NN NDNDR R R R R PR B R R
N~ O OO W N BEFP O © 0N O 0 M W N B O

28

loan modification package, rec uestisrrg_increase in his monthly payment
of apprOX|mateI_¥ 45%[] notwithstanding that they had transferred and
assigned Plaintitf[']s Note to Deutsche Bank nearly six months earlier.

17. Plaintiff contacted DefendanHBSE regarding the increase and was
informed by CHASE that his loan hdéen sold to Deutsche Bank, and
that he would have to negotiate a loan modification with them.

18. Plaintiff discovered that on about January 22009, an Assignment
of Deed of Trust (‘Assignment’) regarding” Plaintiff's Deed of Trust,
(EDOT’), was recorded with the 8aDiego County Recorder's Office ...

he Assignment assigned Deuts&ank, N.A, as trustee for WAMU ...
and was assigned all benefidiatlerest under Plaintiff's ‘DOT".

19. At that time, Plaintiff contactddefendant Deut$e Bank regardin%
modification of his loan, and wasfarmed that they had just recen
acquired the loan and he woulddmntacted by Deutsche Bank via U.S.
Mall as to his status and options.

20. A Default notice was filed onahSubject Property and, on or about
January 28, 2009, a Notice of Deltazoncerning the ‘DOT’ was recorded
with thé San Diego County RecoreDffice ... TheNOD indicated that
as of January 27, 2009, the Subject Loan was $6,446.34 in arrears.

21. A Notice of Trustee's Sale wasorded on 5/1/09 ... [which] contains
a fatal error [] by stating WAMU [&s the owner, when the ASsignment
filed on 1/28/09 transferred thewnership to DEUTSCHE BANK as
Trustee for WAMU ...

22. A foreclosure sale wasrducted by WAMU on July 23, 2009

23. The trustee's deed upon salsigmed and notarized by Mrs. Karime
Arias as Assistant Secretary, fal sting that the Grantee WAMU was
the foreclosing beneficiary, after Chase had acquired the note and 6
[months] after Chase had Sold the note to Defendant Deutsche.

24. ... Neither Defendant WAMU and/or CHASE were the real party in
interest or true beneficiary at the time of the foreclosure based on the
seguence of assignments and thiewang correction Deed filed on May

09, 2011, and therefore should be setaside. ...

27. Plaintiff asserts that at all t@® herein mentioned, each of the
Defendants sued herein was theertgand employee of each of the
remaining Defendants and was attimties acting within the purpose and
scope of such agency and employment ...

38. Plaintiff was harmed and hasen caused to incur considerable
expense in order to prosecute f@elants and each of them for the
unlawful foreclosure of his real property. Plaintiff has incurred further
expense in obtaining proof that i2adants WAMU/Chase were not the
real parties in interesind had no legal standindpen it perfected the non-
judicial foreclosure of Plaintiff[’]s real property.

39. ... Plaintiff has been suffering moanxiety, a feeling of hoPeIessness,
r

lost of trust, loss of confidence in and feelings of betrayal by the
legislative and judicial systems and by legislators and judicial ofticers
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sworn to defend the Constitution of the United States, shock, and
emotional scarring, [which a} all compensable damages.

(ECF No. 18 at 2-8).

Plaintiff asserts eight claims for refig(1) wrongful deprivation of title tq
property in violation of 42 U.S.C. seati 1983; (2) fraud by omission in violation
42 U.S.C. section 1985(3); (3) ongoing conagyrin violation of 42 U.S.C. sectid
1985(3); (4) wrongful deprivation of title to property in violation of California G
Code sections 2924 and 3412; (5) unjustolment; (6) disgorgement; (7) fraud

violation of California Business & Professioiede section 1720and (8) negligencs.

(ECF No. 18).
STANDARD OF REVIEW
Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)(6ym&s dismissal foffailure to state
a claim upon which relief can be granted.” Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6). Federal F

)
of
n

vil

n

bule

Civil Procedure 8(a) provides: “A pleading tlstaites a claim for relief must contain ...

a short and plain statement of the claim singvthat the pleader is entitled to relie
Fed. R. Civ. P. 8(a)(2). Dismissahder Rule 12(b)(6) is appropriate where

complaint lacks a cognizable legal theory or sufficient facts to support a cogni
legal theory.See Balistreri v. Pacifica Police Dep301 F.2d 696, 699 (9th Cir. 1990).

To sufficiently state a claim for reliegfind survive a Rule 12(b)(6) motion
complaint “does not need detailed factaliégations” but the “[flactual allegatior
must be enough to raise a rightétief above the speculative leveBell Atl. Corp. v.
Twombly 550 U.S. 544, 555 (2007). *“[A] plaintiff's obligation to provide 1
‘grounds’ of his ‘entitle[mentio relief’ requires more thdabels and conclusions, al
a formulaic recitation of the elemeraga cause of action will not do.Id. (quoting
Fed. R. Civ. P. 8(a)(2)). When considgra motion to dismiss court must accept

true all “well-pleaded factual allegationAshcroft v. Igbal556 U.S. 662, 679 (2009).

“In sum, for a complaint to survive a moti to dismiss, the non-conclusory fact
content, and reasonable inferences fromebatent, must be plausibly suggestive
a claim entitling the plaintiff to relief. Moss v. U.S. Secret Serg72 F.3d 962, 96
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(9th Cir. 2009) (quotations omitted).
ANALYSIS

l. Federal Law Claims

A.  Wrongful deprivation of title to property in violation of 42 U.S.C.

section 1983

In his first claim for relief, Plaintifélleges that Defendants Washington Mutt
Chase, Deutsche Bank, Citibank a@dlifornia Reconveyance Company depriy
Plaintiff of his constitutionally protectedterest in his property in violation of 4
U.S.C. section 1983. (ECF No. 18). Pldfrdlleges that each of the Defendants aq
“und[er] the color of Site law with the aid of a publicustee, an agent of the Stat
Id. at 7. Plaintiff alleges #t “[t]he issuance by the Trest of its Trustee Deed Aftg
Sale ... and the eviction whicamoves Plaintiff ... before ¢hseparate fair action is
pre-deprivation, even if temporarily, under thd' mendment.’1d.

1 Contentions of the Parties

Moving Defendants contend that ctaione should be dismissed beca
“Defendants are private entities, and naitestactors acting under the color of th
authority.” (ECF No. 23 at 1). Moving Defdants assert that assential element ¢
a 42 U.S.C. section 1983 case is the requirethant person acts under color of st
law, and contend that “Pl&iff has failed to allege ray acts or omissions by th
Defendants that are in any yattributable to the government.” (ECF No. 19-1 at
Moving Defendants contend that there isstaie action where “private entities [hay
simply availed themselves of state lawgedures to foreclose on property secure
a deed of trust.d.

Plaintiff does not dispute that a ¢fabrought pursuantto 42 U.S.C. section 1
must allege that a person acted under the color of [BeeECF No. 22 at 5). Plaintif

hal,
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contends he has adequatallgged a section 1983 clairadause the Complaint alleg

S

that Defendants (1) acted “und[er] the coloBtdte law with the aid of a public trustee,

an agent of the State,” (2) “violated aodntinue to violate [California Civil Cod
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section] 2924[,] et seq.,” and (3) “deniflaintiff] his substantive Due Process 3

Equal Protection Rights provided by 42 U.9<@ction] 1983.” (ECF No. 18 at7; EC

No. 22 at 5).
2. Discussion

nd

To state a claim for a 42 U.S.C. section 1983 civil rights violation, a plajintiff

must demonstrate a deprivation of a rigatured by the Constitution or laws of 1
United States, and that the defendant acteter color of state law. 42 U.S.C.§ 19
Kirtley v. Rainey326 F.3d 1088, 1092 (9th Cir. 2003). “The purpose of section
Is to deter state actors from using the baafgbeir authority to deprive individuals (
their federally guaranteed rightsMcDade v. West222 F.3d 1135, 1139 (9th C

he
33;
1983
Df

r.

2000). “In cases under section 1983, ‘underrcolidaw has consistently been treated

as the same thing as the ‘state acti@ujuired under the Fourteenth Amendnie

Lugar v. Edmonson Qil Co., Inet57 U.S. 922, 928 (1982) (quotikinited States .

Price, 383 U.S. 787, 794 n.7 (1966Mor seemingly private behavior to constitute s
action, there must be a sufficiently closxus between the State and the challer
action such that the party charged with thero@ation may be fairlyreated as a sta
actor. See Lugar457 U.S. at 936 (1982Fee also Lee v. Kat276 F.3d 550, 55
(2002). The utilization of legislatively anted procedures by private entities does
implicate Constitutional concerns withoutl@ast some direct state involvemeBee
Apao v. Bank of New Yqr&24 F.3d 1091, 1093-94 (2003).

In the First Amended Complaint, Plafiitioes not allege that any Defendant is

an agent of the state. Rathilaintiff alleges that Defendants acted “und[er] the c
of State law with the aid of a public trast an agent of the &e,” and that “[t]he
iIssuance by the Trustee ofTtaustee Deed After Sale, which rests the right of title,
the eviction which removes Plaintiff ... bedothe separate fair action is a p

deprivation, even if temporarily, under the"14mendment.” (ECF No. 18 at 7).

Based upon these allegations, the Court finds that Plaintiff has failed to adeq
allege the existence of a sufficiently “clasexus between the state and the challer
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action such that [any Dafdant] may be fairly treat [as a state actor]Kirtley, 326
F.3d at 1092. The Court concludes thatolane must be dismissed as to the moy
Defendants.See Lugar4d57 U.S. 922, 936-37 at 1092 (cognizable section 1983 ¢
must demonstrate defendant acted under odlstate law). The Motion to Dismiss
granted as to claim one with respect to the moving Defendants.
B. Fraudby Omission and Ongoing Conspiracy in violation of 42 U.S.C.
section 1985(3)

In the second and third claims for réli€laintiff alleges that Defendanfts

Washington Mutual, Chase, DeutschenBaCitibank, and ddornia Reconveyanc
Company violated 42 U.S.C. section 1985(3) through an ongoing conspir:
fraudulently deprive Plaintiff of his rights(ECF No. 18). Plaintiff alleges th
Defendant Chase fraudulently “failed to dis#dhe material fact that it had convey
its beneficial interest to a third party prio perfecting the non-judicial foreclosure
Plaintiff[']s real property asset.ld. at 8. Plaintiff alleges that the conspiracy
ongoing and prolonged, Defenddhase Bank conveying its interest in the Sub
Property to Defendant Deutsche six mentprior to perfecting its non-judicis
foreclosure through Defendantl@arnia Reconveyance Companid. at 9. Plaintiff
alleges that the Deed of Trust wadraudulent transaction in which Defendza
transferred nothing, and that the Assignment of the Deed without authority to asg
note is a nullity.Id. at 8. Plaintiff alleges that BEndants’ conspiracy in abusing t
non-judicial foreclosure process to ceean economic advantage was intende

deprive Plaintiff of his property withowlue process and equabtection under color

of state law.Id. at 9.
1 Contentions of the Parties
Moving Defendants contend that clainvgo and three should be dismiss
because Plaintiff does not allegiey racial or class-basedmns, as required to preva
on a claim for relief under seon 1985. (ECF No. 19-1 &). Alternatively, moving
Defendants contend that the allegationthefComplaint fail to satisfy the heighten
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pleading requirements of Rule 9(b)tbé Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. at 7-8.

Plaintiff contends that claims two and three are sufficiently pled pursuant tc

Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 8. (ECF No. 22 at 5-6, 13).
2. Discussion

To state a claim for a 42 U.S.C. seqtil985(3) violation, “a complaint mufst

allege (1) a conspiracy, (2) to deprive ggrson or a class of persons of the equal

protection of the laws, or of equal privgkes and immunities under the laws, (3) anfact

by one of the conspirators in furtherancehs conspiracy, and (4) a personal injyry,

property damage or a depriian of any right or privilege of a citizen of the Unite
States.” Gillespie v. Civiletti 629 F.2d 637, 641 (9t@ir. 1980) (citingGriffin v.

Breckenridge403 U.S. 88, 102-03 (1971)). A vitilan of section 1985(3) requires that

there be an intent to deprive of equal potion of rights securdaly law to all, meaning

(& m—

that there must be some raladr class-based invidioustiiscriminatory motive behin
the conspiracy Griffin, 403 U.S. at 102.
In the First Amended Complaint, Plaintifbes not allege that he belongs to a

protected class. Accordingly, Plaintiff Hasled to adequatelyilage that Defendants

acted with racial or class-based discrimimatmotive, as requiretb state a claim foy

ny

violation of section 1985(3).See Griffin 403 U.S. at 102 (racial or class-based
discriminatory motive is a required elent to section 1985 claim). The Motion|to

Dismiss is granted as to claims two anctéhwith respect to the moving Defendants.

[I. StateLaw Claims

In claims four through nine, Plaintiff agteclaims for violations of California

state laws. Plaintiff does not allege thias Court has diversity jurisdiction over th

S

action? Plaintiff alleges that this Court hagpplemental jurisdiction over the state law

claims pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1367.
The federal supplemental jurisdiction stat provides: “[I]n any civil action of

Plaintiff fails to allege the citizenship of any Defendant in the Complaint; accord[ngly,

Plaintiff has failed to allege complete diversity of citizenship between the p&&e28
U.S.C. 8§ 1332(a)(2).
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which the district courts have originalrigdiction, the district courts shall ha

supplemental jurisdiction over all other claimatthre so related to claims in the act

within such original jurisdiction that théprm part of the same case or controve

under Article Il of the United States Constitution.” 28 U.S.C. § 1367(a). A di

court may decline to exercise supplemental jurisdiction over a state law claim
(1) the claim raises a novel or complex issue of State law,

(2) the claim substantially predonaites over the claim or claims over
which the district court has original jurisdiction

(3) the district court has dismissalll claims over which it has original
jurisdiction, or

(4) in exceptional circumstances, thare other compelling reasons for
declining jurisdiction.

28 U.S.C. § 1367(c). Having dismissed the fatlelaims asserted by Plaintiff agair
the moving Defendants, the Court declit@gxercise supplemental jurisdiction oy
the state law claims against the moving Defendants pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1
See Ove v. Gwin64 F.3d 817, 826 (9th Cir. 2001 A(tourt may decline to exercis
supplemental jurisdiction over related sti@e-claims once it has dismissed all clai
over which it has original jurisdiction.”San Pedro Hotel Co., Ina. City of Los
Angeles 159 F.3d 470, 478 (9th Cir. 1998) (distrcourts not rquired to provide
explanation when declining jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. 8§ 1367(c)).
CONCLUSION
IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that the Mmn to Dismiss (ECF No. 19)

GRANTED, and the Complaint is DISMISSEMthout prejudice as to Defendants
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Ims

S
JP

Morgan Chase Bank, N.A., Washington MaitBBank, and California Reconveyance

Company.
DATED: December 2, 2013

G it 2. A
WILLIAM Q. HAY
United States District Judge
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